Applied Energy 145 (2015) 139-154



Applied Energy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apenergy

Smart Energy Systems for coherent 100% renewable energy and transport solutions



AppliedEnergy

B.V. Mathiesen^{a,*}, H. Lund^b, D. Connolly^a, H. Wenzel^c, P.A. Østergaard^b, B. Möller^d, S. Nielsen^b, I. Ridjan^a, P. Karnøe^a, K. Sperling^b, F.K. Hvelplund^b

^a Department of Development and Planning, Aalborg University, A.C. Meyers Vænge 15, DK-2450 Copenhagen SV, Denmark
 ^b Department of Development and Planning, Aalborg University, Vestre Havnepromenade 9, DK-9000 Aalborg, Denmark
 ^c Department of Chemical Engineering, Biotechnology and Environmental Technology, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

^d Department Energy and Environmental Management, University of Flensburg, Munketoft 3b, D-24937 Flensburg, Germany

HIGHLIGHTS

• Integrating smart electricity, smart thermal and smart gas grids to enable 100% RE.

• Cost and fuel synergies across electricity, heating, and transport can be exploited.

• Focusing only on a smart electricity grid reduces the potential for fluctuating RE.

• Smart Energy System design can ensure biomass use is limited to a sustainable level.

• Smart Energy Systems can pave the way for bioenergy-free 100% RES incl. transport.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 August 2014 Received in revised form 19 January 2015 Accepted 19 January 2015 Available online 27 February 2015

Keywords: Smart Energy Systems 100% Renewable energy systems Energy storage Smart grids Thermal grids Gas grids

ABSTRACT

The hypothesis of this paper is that in order to identify least cost solutions of the integration of fluctuating renewable energy sources into current or future 100% renewable energy supplies one has to take a Smart Energy Systems approach. This paper outline why and how to do so. Traditionally, significant focus is put on the electricity sector alone to solve the renewable energy integration puzzle. Smart grid research traditionally focuses on ICT, smart meters, electricity storage technologies, and local (electric) smart grids. In contrast, the Smart Energy System focuses on merging the electricity, heating and transport sectors, in combination with various intra-hour, hourly, daily, seasonal and biannual storage options, to create the flexibility necessary to integrate large penetrations of fluctuating renewable energy. However, in this paper we present the development and design of coherent Smart Energy Systems as an integrated part of achieving future 100% renewable energy and transport solutions. The transition from fossil fuels towards the integration of more and more renewable energy requires rethinking and redesigning the energy system both on the generation and consumption side. To enable this, the Smart Energy System must have a number of appropriate infrastructures for the different sectors of the energy system, which are smart electricity grids, smart thermal grids (district heating and cooling), smart gas grids and other fuel infrastructures. It enables fluctuating renewable energy (such as wind, solar, wave power and low value heat sources) to utilise new sources of flexibility such as solid, gaseous, and liquid fuel storage, thermal storage and heat pumps and battery electric vehicles. Smart Energy Systems also enable a more sustainable and feasible use of bioenergy than the current types allow. It can potentially pave the way to a bioenergy-free 100% renewable energy and transport system.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.



^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +45 9940 7218.

E-mail addresses: bvm@plan.aau.dk (B.V. Mathiesen), lund@plan.aau.dk (H. Lund), david@plan.aau.dk (D. Connolly), henrik.wenzel@kbm.sdu.dk (H. Wenzel), poul@plan. aau.dk (P.A. Østergaard), bernd@plan.aau.dk (B. Möller), steffenn@plan.aau.dk (S. Nielsen), iva@plan.aau.dk (I. Ridjan), karnoe@plan.aau.dk (P. Karnøe), karl@plan.aau.dk (K. Sperling), hvelplund@plan.aau.dk (F.K. Hvelplund).

Contents

1.	Introduction	140
2.	Methodology	141
3.	From electricity systems to Smart Energy Systems	142
	3.1. The concepts of storage – expanding from a single sector focus	142
	3.2. Merging the electricity and heating sectors	144
	3.3. Merging the electricity, heating and transport sectors	145
	3.4. Towards Smart Energy Systems	145
4.	Grids and storages in Smart Energy Systems	147
5.	The Smart Energy System case: The CEESA 100% renewable energy scenarios	148
	5.1. Three different Smart Energy System options in the case study	149
	5.2. Steps to achieve 100% renewable energy systems	150
6.	Conclusions	151
	Acknowledgements	152
	References	152

1. Introduction

Currently most energy systems are predominantly based on fossil fuels, but this has to change in the future. The purpose of introducing more and more renewable energy into the energy system is to save fuels, which in the short term are fossil fuels (and nuclear in some contexts). In the longer term bioenergy will become the key concern, as biomass is a limited resource that cannot be expected to replace all fossil fuels used today. Apart from anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions from the combustion of fossil fuels and the need for a sustainable use of biomass, there are several other reasons for why this transition is important: Security of supply and geopolitical issues, health risks related to combustion of fossil fuels, socio-economic consequences of the energy mixes, ownership and democracy, while business development and job creation are other important parts of the energy system that have been in focus for decades [1,2]. Fossil fuels play a major part in these issues and an unsustainable use of bioenergy may cause similar challenges in the future.

In current fossil based systems, the flexibility is based on the fuels provided for power plants, boilers and vehicles in liquid, gaseous, and solid form. Today's energy systems are based on infrastructure and storage facilities that can cover the demands by means of transporting fossil fuels over large distances in ships and pipelines on the global level, to national or regional energy infrastructure such as coal, gas and oil storage facilities. Hence, a global system is based on large-scale storage of energy-dense fossil fuels that usually can flexibly meet the demands at the right time and place. While this is already a reality for the fossil-fuel based energy system, the challenge now is to create an equally or more flexible energy supply with increasing amounts of fluctuating renewable energy.

While some studies that look at more sectors as part of the path towards 100% renewable energy systems, including electricity, heat and transport have already been developed [3–9], there is still a predominant sectorial focus; specifically on how to integrate fluctuating resources into the electricity sector [10].

More and more focus is being placed on energy savings, renewable energy sources and the handling of fluctuating renewable energy sources. While electricity savings should be promoted heavily, an increasing focus is placed on the integration of fluctuating renewable energy into the electricity system to lower emissions [11–17]. For example, the smart grid community has a strong focus on the use of the following components: ICT, smart meters and smart grids connected to existing electricity demands, EV's and individual heating technologies [10,18–24], flexible demand, storages and electricity storage, distributed generation [25–27], power-to-gas [28] and transmission [29–31]. Some authors are also connecting the smart grids to the concept of smart cities, but continues to have a focus on the electricity grid only and/or on individual buildings [32–34]. Only very few authors look at the transition as a complete redesign of the whole system [10,18].

More recent research shows however that merging the heating and electricity sector from a system level is important in order to create a fuel efficient energy system that is economically and environmentally feasible [35–39]. In fact connecting the electricity and heating sectors can lower overall costs and increase the value of wind power [40]. The heating sector and the electricity sector can be interconnected by using technologies such as large thermal storage and large-scale heat pumps supplying heating for district heating networks.

The great challenge however is the transport sector, and no single technology can solve the transport puzzle [41]. Also the current use of biofuels is heavily debated and the biomass use is controversial, even with new bio-refining technologies also using waste biomass products, due to the connection to food production and land-use [42–44]. At the same time large amounts of bioenergy will have to be used in the heat, power and industrial sectors in the future, and demands from all sectors, including transport, is already on the rise. In other words it is equally important to limit the use of bioenergy as it is to reduce the use of fossil fuels in the future, as the present use of fossil fuels cannot be substituted by biomass.

In this paper the aim is to combine the knowledge relating to the integration of renewable energy in the various sectors of the energy system, to minimise overall costs and fuel consumption (fossil or bioenergy). There is a lack of knowledge on (1) what does current research tell us about the integration of renewable energy by combining the different sectors and (2) what does the actual design of such a Smart Energy System look like?

Also in this paper we present our hypothesis, that using a Smart Energy Systems approach, which includes a substantial merging of the different energy sectors, will lead to the identification of a more fuel-efficient and lower-cost solution compared to the traditional approach of individual sectors. This is primarily due to the new synergies enabled in the cross-sectorial approach, which enable higher penetrations of fluctuating renewable resources such as wind power, photovoltaics (PV), wave power and run-of-river hydro power at the expense of fossil fuels or bioenergy. We believe that The Smart Energy System concept is essential for 100% renewable energy systems to harvest storage synergies and exploit low value heat sources. The Smart Energy System approach was defined in 2011 in the CEESA project (see below). The project addressed Danish scenarios with a particular focus on renewable energy in the transport system in a context with limited access



Fig. 1. Energy-flow-diagrams of an electricity based energy system (1a), a traditional energy system (1b), a CHP energy system (1c) and an integrated CHP energy system with heat pumps (1d) – all providing the same energy services.

to bioenergy. The aim in the paper is to present this holistic energy system perspective.

2. Methodology

The Smart Energy System approach is presented in two parts to compile research and also provide a concrete case study:

- 1. Firstly, energy flow diagrams are presented to illustrate the principle of why the Smart Energy Systems approach will lead to improved solutions compared to sector focused solutions, and
- Secondly, we will quantify the potential benefits from a Danish case based on the results of the strategic research project CEESA (Coherent Energy and Environmental System Analyses) [45–50].

The energy flow diagrams quantifies the energy flow for different energy supply systems and different penetrations of fluctuating resources. The fluctuating resources are illustrated by wind power, but could in principle also be PV, wave power and/or run-of-river hydro power, etc. For each of the different supply systems in the diagrams, the amount of wind power technical feasible in the system is based on previous research that accounts the hourly variations which need to be accommodated [3–9,45–50]. The energy flow diagrams presented illustrate a specific relation between supplies and demands i.e. wind power and specific electricity and heating demands. The design and results presented however present an approach that can be used on context with more cooling demands or substantial amounts of run-of-river and pumped hydro. The aim here is to highlight the need to have an integrated energy system in order to identify feasible options to replace fossil fuel and biomass.

In Fig. 1 an example of four different energy systems is given. In all energy systems the end demands are the same, but these demands are met through different pathways. All of the energy flow diagrams represent the whole year and illustrate the energy supply and demands. The four energy systems are:

- The system entitled the 'electricity system' is characterised by electricity being supplied from power plants, while all heating is being supplied by electric boilers or resistance heaters (electric heating).
- In the system entitled the 'traditional system', heating is supplied by individual boilers, which are most often fuelled with oil and gas, while electricity is still provided by a power plant.

- In the 'CHP system', electricity and heating is integrated by the use of Combined Heat and Power production (CHP).
- Finally, the 'Integrated CHP system' includes the addition of centralised heat pumps for the heating demands.
- For all four systems transport is separate and includes an approximated refinery loss.

The methodology is to gradually add wind power to each of these systems until they will no longer be able to integrate the wind power produced: this is the point where excess electricity from the fluctuating power production will not be consumed in that particular energy system design. Subsequently, new systems will have to be designed by adding components such as electric vehicles, biofuels, renewable electrofuels¹ and storage capacities, etc. By increasingly connecting sectors and moving towards a Smart Energy System, synergies are identified in a sector integrated approach and by exploiting different storage options.

There is considerable knowledge about most parts of the energy system. In this paper we combine previous research results regarding Smart Energy Systems and in this process describe the research behind. The main findings presented are based on research results from detailed energy systems analyses using the Advanced Energy System Analysis Computer tool EnergyPLAN. The tool includes national or regional energy systems, which includes heat and electricity supplies as well as the transport and industrial sectors. All thermal, renewable, storage, conversion, and transport technologies can be modelled by EnergyPLAN [51] which is rather unique in comparison with many other tools [52]. The tool is a deterministic input/output tool and general inputs are demands, renewable energy sources, energy technology capacities, costs, and a number of optional regulation strategies for import/export and excess electricity production, all on an hourly basis. The tool is also able to include analyses combining fluctuating renewable energy sources with the production of synthetic gases or liquids in addition to the capability to include different types of biofuels. The analyses in EnergyPLAN is supplemented by GIS (Geographical Information Systems) based mapping and analysis of heat demand and supply options. By means of spatial analysis using highly detailed heat atlases of the building stock by age, use and current heat supply, the economically accessible potentials of energy efficiency, the expansion of energy infrastructure, as well as the locally available renewable energy sources are identified by means of cost-supply curves [53].

The final recommendations regarding the design of Smart Energy Systems build on a case study from the strategic research project CEESA [45,46]. The CEESA project was an interdisciplinary research project and involved more than 20 researchers from seven different universities or research institutions in Denmark. In the CEESA project, various different 100% renewable energy and transport systems were designed and analysed. These form the basis for the development towards the Smart Energy System flow diagrams presented in this paper.

After describing the principle design, the overall results from the CEESA project are presented. Transport is one of the key challenges in society and was given special attention in the 100% renewable energy scenarios developed in the CEESA project. The results include further development and integration of existing tools and methodologies into coherent energy and environmental analysis tools, as well as analyses of the design and implementation of future renewable energy systems. In the present article, we focus mainly on the technical system aspects of Smart Energy Systems. The political and institutional challenges, market structures [40,50,54–62] and other non-technical framework conditions associated with the drastic transformation of the technical interdependencies when shifting from current energy systems to Smart Energy Systems are not addressed here. Furthermore, the different phases described here, through which energy systems could develop into Smart Energy Systems, do not necessarily follow a chronological order. This sequential set-up is presented for pedagogical reasons – in reality, there will be overlaps between the phases.

3. From electricity systems to Smart Energy Systems

In the existing energy system, 20–25% of fluctuating renewable energy can normally be technically integrated on an annual bases without affecting the reliable operation of the electricity grid [9,10,36,63–68]. The electricity based system is illustrated without fluctuating renewable energy in (1a) of Fig. 1 and with renewable energy in (2a) of Fig. 2. As can be seen in such energy-flow-diagrams, significant losses occur in the conversion phase at the power plant. By introducing renewable energy, such as wind power, a part of the fuel used can be replaced. In Fig. 1, fluctuating renewable energy penetration of 25% annually is assumed to be the limit, since beyond this, the peaks during the year of the fluctuating resources will reach the current electricity peak demands and will increasingly be curtailed. In this section we illustrate how this limit can be increased by changing from a sectorial approach to an integrated approach - going from the focus on electricity, heat and transport systems separately to looking at the sectors coherently.

3.1. The concepts of storage – expanding from a single sector focus

As the debate and research about the integration of fluctuating renewable energy sources grows, sectorial backgrounds of the different actors and stakeholders create sectorial focuses on solving the integration challenge as well. Due to the rapid development of renewable electricity technologies, this sectorial focus often leads to an over emphasis on solutions in the electricity sector for the integration of renewable energy. For example, typical solutions involve direct electricity storage in batteries, flywheels, pumped storage or in fuels used for electricity production, such as hydrogen from electrolysers [69,70].

Energy storage is rather different from direct electricity storage. While energy storage is very important, the round trip conversion losses with electricity storage should be avoided. The principle of electricity storage is to charge a storage facility when excess electricity production occurs and discharge the facility when a shortfall in electricity supply occurs. This ensures that supply and demand matches on the electricity side. At present however, there are only two types of large-scale electricity storage technologies that have been implemented (i.e. >100 MW): pumped hydroelectric energy storage (PHES) and compressed air energy storage (CAES). Both of these technologies lead to significant inherent energy losses, with the two having round-trip efficiencies of approximately 85% and 65% respectively. Hence, when assessing electricity storage, there is a balancing act between integrating more fluctuating renewables and reducing the overall efficiency of the system. Salgi and Lund [71] investigated the feasibility of CAES and compares it to other alternatives. The results indicated that smaller CAES had little impacts, while larger ones could have, but it would require very large storage capacities to eliminate excess electricity production altogether. In a subsequent paper Lund and Salgi [72] compared a fixed investment in CAES to the same investment in alternative sources of flexibility such as electric boilers, large-scale

¹ Throughout this paper the term *electrofuel* refers to fuel production by combined use of electrolysers with carbon source. If the carbon source is CO_2 -emissions the term CO_2 -electrofuel is used, and in case the carbon source is from the biomass gasification the term *bioelectrofuel* is used. If not indicated differently the produced fuels are DME/methanol.



Fig. 2. Energy-flow-diagrams of 25% wind power of the electricity consumption in an electric energy system (2a), a traditional energy system (2b), a CHP energy system (2c) and an integrated CHP energy system with heat pump (2d) providing the same energy services.

heat pumps and electrolysers. The feasibility study results indicated that heat pumps and electric boilers reduce the costs of operating the Danish energy system significantly more than CAES. Therefore, these forms of flexibility should be implemented in Denmark before CAES. In fact comparing CAES to other integration options shows, that even free electricity from wind power would not be able to cover the costs of the investments in CAES. However, if CAES plants can save investments in power plant capacities in the system, the CAES technology may become more feasible to the system.

There are some indications that using electric vehicles in so called Vehicle-to-grid (V2G) mode, may serve the energy system with the same characteristics, while also enabling another potential mean to secure overall grid stability as well as in local electricity grids [73–75]. For grid stability however, power electronics also play a role on the power generation side in distributed power generation systems [76]. Østergaard [77] compares different storage options in a local energy system – electricity storage, gas storage and thermal heat storage and identifies a better flexibility in electricity storages than other storages. Therefore, some focus should also be asserted on the electricity system in future Smart Energy Systems, however this does not mean that round trip losses should be implemented. It does however stress

the potential role of flexible demands and batteries in maintaining the shorter term grid stability in the different parts of the electricity transmission and distribution system.

Mathiesen investigates the role of fuel cells and hydrogen in future energy systems [36]. In some studies hydrogen is proposed to be produced and then used in micro-CHPs or other means of electricity production. In the short term, electrolyser hydrogen is not suitable for fuel cell applications; and in the long term, some applications of electrolysers are more suitable than others. Other energy storage technologies, such as large heat pumps in CHP plants and battery electric vehicles, should be implemented first, because these technologies are more fuel and cost-efficient while micro-CHP should be avoided completely [35,36]; both in systems with and without CHP plants. Electrolysers should only be implemented in energy systems with very high shares of fluctuating renewable energy (+50%) and other options are significantly more important [36]. In a 100% renewable energy system however, electrolysers constitute a key part for e.g. transport, because they displace fuels derived from biomass, but should still not be using hydrogen for electricity production to the grid [46,78,79].

These case studies about current technologies and potential future technologies highlight the issue of electricity storage as the main mean of integrating fluctuating resources. Electricity storage technologies such as batteries or flywheels may have a function as a means to manage the grid in few extreme situations, but should be avoided as the main mean of integration. In other words, electricity storage can benefit the system in the short term in the form of ancillary services and grid stability (with small impacts on the overall energy losses), but it does not have a major role when it comes to large-scale integration on an annual basis, primarily due to relatively high energy losses and costs compared to the alternatives. What are then the options if we want to increase the fluctuating renewable energy penetration?

3.2. Merging the electricity and heating sectors

The electricity sector is only a part of the energy sector. The heating (and cooling) sector poses a significant challenge as well. When looking at the energy supply from the heating sector's perspective, a number of options can be applied as mentioned already in the case studies above. In Fig. 1 a number of energy-flow-diagrams illustrates how the electricity and heat can be supplied assuming that we need 40 units of heat, 30 units of electricity and 30 units of fuel for transport before we start introducing fluctuating renewable energy sources.

Going from an electric system (1a) through a traditional system (1b) towards a CHP system (1c) illustrates how the fuel efficiency can be improved significantly – without introducing fluctuating resources. The energy-flow-diagrams illustrate how redesigning the energy system can improve the fuel efficiency by 30–40% from the worst case to the best case. Although the diagrams represent ideal situations they do however highlight some of the issues that need to be addressed in the design of energy systems. The fuel inefficiency regarding direct electric heating is reduced significantly going to the CHP energy system. By going from the CHP system to the integrated system with large heat pumps (1d), the balance between the electricity demand and the heat demand becomes apparent as a part of the design of the supply system. The energy-flow-diagrams assume a high electric efficiency in the gas engine or gas turbine CHP plants and hence some of heat supply has to be met by a boiler in (1c). Going towards the integrated system with heat pumps from the CHP system (1c to 1d) does not improve the fuel efficiency significantly. This redesign from the CHP system towards the integrated system is more important for the integration of fluctuating renewable energy.

In Fig. 2 and 25% of the electricity demand is covered by wind power in the four energy systems presented previously on an annual basis. The wind power production is calculated as 25% of the total electricity demand, e.g. in (2a) the electricity demand is 70 as electricity is also used to supply heat by using electric boilers. Wind power produces 25% of this demand (approximately 18) while the power plant generate the remainder (52) to cover the demand. These energy systems represent ideal situations as for example, the heat pumps would not cover all demands in (2d) but would be supplemented by some boiler operation.

As highlighted, merging the heating (and/or cooling) sector with the electricity sector becomes increasingly important to improve the fuel efficiency of the energy system. Again, if the purpose is to increase the amount of fluctuating resources to reduce the use of fuels, it is also important to redesign the energy system to facilitate this. Large-scale heat pumps are one option since they reduce the use of boilers, while at the same time enable the fuelefficient integration of fluctuating renewable energy. As displayed in Fig. 2, introducing heat pumps reduces fuel consumption in the energy system with 25% wind power, but additional to that, research shows that heat pumps can facilitate up to 40% fluctuating renewable energy without reducing the fuel efficiency of the system. Our research shows that for large-scale integration of fluctuating resources [34–37,80–92]: ...merging the electricity sector and the heating sector should be carried out using CHP plants and large heat pumps with thermal storages in district heating systems where possible...

In several case studies, the use of district heating, thermal storages and heat pumps has been highlighted as the more feasible and fuel efficient option compared to individual solutions. District heating is normally seen as feasible in locations with a high geographical heat demand density, a concept which is currently challenged as district heating pipes get more efficient and heat supply sources become more accessible. Clearly, various factors influence the feasibility and the extent of district heating. Where district heating is not possible under such constraints, individual heat pumps should be used [36,37,89–95] if the building stock allows it. In Dyrelund et al. [92] and Lund et al. [37], various heating technologies under three distinct scenarios for the Danish energy system were analysed in a feasibility study and a study about the suitability of heating systems in energy systems with large amounts of renewable energy. Almost 50% of the Danish net heat demand is currently supplied by district heating. GIS-based analysis using a heat atlas [37,53,88,96] shows that by identifying existing district heating areas and by connecting areas currently supplied with natural gas for individual heating, 63-73% of the heat demand could be covered by district heating. Through energy systems analysis it was investigated whether the current level should be maintained and combined with individual solutions, or whether the district heating systems should be expanded to these levels. For the first scenario, all buildings with individual boilers in areas which have or plan to have district heating networks were converted to district heating. In the second scenario, all buildings in natural gas areas adjacent to district heating networks were converted and finally, in the third scenario, all buildings in areas that are 2nd degree neighbours to district heating areas, or that were otherwise within reach of district heating networks, were converted. To provide a complete picture, five alternatives to district heating sources were considered for each scenario: ground-source heat pumps, air-source heat pumps, electric heating, gas micro CHP, and hydrogen micro CHP. For each scenario the fuel demand, CO₂ emissions, and socio-economic costs were calculated and compared to three reference scenarios (2006, 2020, and 2060) using a technical optimisation. The results indicated that as Denmark progresses towards a 100% renewable energy system by 2060, the electricity consuming options (heat pumps and electric heating) and district heating are still the most environmentally and economically attractive alternatives. In contrast, the electricity producing alternatives (micro CHP) are less attractive, which was primarily due to the additional excess electricity production in the system from fluctuating renewable energy sources. Other studies confirm such results. Recently, similar studies have been conducted on the European scale [84–87,97] confirming that district heating and thermal heat storages can increase the fuel efficiency significantly, while simultaneously decreasing costs and the greenhouse gas emissions. In areas where the heat density is too low for district heating, ground source heat pumps are feasible [37,83] - individual buildings are however not able to provide the same flexibility by simply applying heat storages or batteries in the houses as district heating systems [34,35,83].

By introducing heat savings in buildings low-value energy sources can also be utilised in district heating networks [98,99]. When looking at heavily refurbished or new dwellings, district heating and ground source heat pumps should be in focus [81], especially when considering that consumer behaviour may change over time and is not similar from family to family, and that comfort levels may also change [81,100]. The perspectives of low-energy dwellings have been analysed and described in several studies [61,101–104], including zero emission buildings [80,105–107]



Fig. 3. Energy-flow-diagrams of the integrated CHP energy system with 50% wind power and heat pumps (3a) and the same systems combined with electric vehicles (3b) covering 50% of the transport demand.

and the challenges related to this concept [34]. These studies show to some extent that heavy refurbishment and implementation of energy savings in dwellings are feasible [102,103], however the analyses on the European and other energy systems presented above show that a balance should be found between how much to refurbish, and at which stage renewable energy heating systems should be implemented. Both in the Danish case and in the European study heat savings of approximately 50% of the current heat demand should be implemented.

Merging the electricity and heating sector using CHP plants, thermal heat storages and heat pumps enables fuel efficient integration of more fluctuating renewable energy and lower biomass consumption as this enables a displacement of boiler heat production [35,37,82]. In Fig. 3 such a system is combined with 50% wind power (3a) enabling the fuel consumption to be reduced further compared to the 25% wind power penetration alternative.

3.3. Merging the electricity, heating and transport sectors

For a 50% renewable electricity penetration, flexible electricity demands based on current electricity use and intelligent operation of new demands in individual heat pumps have some role in the integration, although it is smaller than large-scale heat pumps [35]. The next major step is the integration of fluctuating renewables of the transport sector [35]. In Fig. 3 an energy-flow-diagram of how the transport sector could be partly transformed is illustrated (3b). It is assumed that 50% of the total end transport demand is covered by electric vehicles for private cars. Electric vehicles can significantly improve the fuel efficiency and increase the penetration of fluctuating renewable energy. As can be seen, the inefficiency of current vehicles and the rather efficient electric vehicles can reduce the fuel consumption in the integrated energy and transport system significantly. The question is what kind of solutions can facilitate that we move the transport sector towards renewable energy? Our research shows that [3,4,35,41,46,73,74,108–110]:

...connecting the electricity and transport sectors enables more fluctuating renewable energy to be utilised... and the transport sector should be electrified to the largest extent possible...

In constructing 100% renewable energy and transport systems, a key challenge is to introduce more renewable energy in a manner where most fossil fuels are replaced. Previous analyses in hour-byhour energy system analyses have shown that this is possible by increasing the amount of battery electric vehicles or hybrid battery electric vehicles [35,73,74,109,111], as well as in dynamic simulations within the hour [108]. In Mathiesen and Lund [35] an analysis of seven different technologies is presented for integrating renewable energy indicating that battery electric vehicles constitute the most promising transport integration technology when compared with hydrogen fuel cell vehicles. Hydrogen vehicles introduces losses into the system, and apart from using fluctuating resources, electrolysers will increase the use of power plants as well [73]. Also increasing the use of electric trains can improve the fuel efficiency compared to individual vehicles [3,4,41] and overall much more electricity needs to be utilised in the transport sector [46,110].

3.4. Towards Smart Energy Systems

There are limitations to the extent of transport demand that can be covered by direct electricity consumption in trains or similar and in battery electric vehicles. The remaining part of the transport demand, such as trucks and planes, needs to be covered by fuels that can be transported on board. There are different kinds of biofuels available for this. In Fig. 4 different options for connecting the transport sector with the other sectors are illustrated in energyflow-diagrams in systems with large penetrations of renewable energy.

The transport sector faces significant challenges in the future due to its dependency on oil products. The question is how much more renewable energy can be integrated into the transport sector? A number of case studies have been performed for Denmark. A holistic approach to creating 100% renewable energy scenarios for all transport was introduced in the Danish Society of Engineers (IDA) in the IDA Energy Plan 2030 [41] using the integrated energy systems analysis tool EnergyPLAN. The steps in the study included maintaining passenger transport demand for vehicles and trains at current levels by moving people and goods onto trains and ships. introducing battery electric vehicles, using more efficient forms of transport, and by introducing biofuels. This study was followed up by a more thorough analysis in the IDA Climate Plan 2050 in 2009 [3]. While both of the case studies used an integrated approach for the transition towards renewable energy in the transport sector and while electrification was prioritised, the use of biomass in parts of the transport sector was crucial for achieving 100%



Fig. 4. Energy-flow-diagrams of integrated energy and transport systems with 1st and 2nd generation biofuels (4a) and (4b) and the Smart Energy System (4c) and its storage options (4d).

renewable energy for covering transport demands. Biomass is the preferable replacement for fossil fuels in the transport sector as it can be converted to high-density fuels and can be used within the current infrastructure system. Biofuels have also become more competitive due to the rising prices of fossil fuels.

Assuming that half of the transport demand (represented by 15 units of transport in the energy-flow-diagrams) can be covered by electricity increases the efficiency and the penetration of renewable energy in combination with large reductions in the fuel consumption. If first generation biofuels are used, then the conversion losses are rather small as illustrated in (4a) of Fig. 4. 1st generation biofuels are connected to a number of problems however, as it is based on resources also used for food production and as the land-use can create problems if larger penetrations of such biofuels were to be used. This is why 2nd generation biofuels are proposed and why research is growing in this area. In (4b) of Fig. 4 the conversion to transport fuels is included in an example of a 2nd generation biofuel (with 40% biomass to fuel efficiency). As illustrated 2nd generation biofuels introduce large conversion losses, thus increasing the demand for biomass significantly (i.e. fuel). Even if the waste products from the production of biofuels can be used in other sectors for higher value applications (such as food production or further energy applications), then these conversion losses will still be similar to those for 1st generation biofuels (4b). In a 100% renewable energy context, this will result in an overreliance on bioenergy. Our research shows that [3,41,46,73,78,79,110]:

...transport demands should be met by electricity and for demands where direct electricity cannot be used, renewable electrofuels using electrolysis based on electricity from fluctuating renewable energy sources should be used, due to limitations in the bioenergy resource...

The increasing use of biofuels has raised discussions about their effect on the environment, such as the risk of intervening with food production, deforestation, and changes in land-use [42]. In Connolly et al. [110], a number of alternative electrofuels pathways are described and compared as alternatives to support or replace biofuels in 100% renewable energy systems. The methanol/DME pathway from this paper is proposed here in (4c) of Fig. 4 to supply 50% of the transport demand. These renewable electrofuels are produced by converting electricity via electrolysers to hydrogen that is bound with carbon source from CO_2 recycling or biomass gasification Surplus heat can be used for district heating in order to integrate the heat and transport sector. Renewable electrofuels are described further below. With 50% wind power in the electricity



Fig. 5. Steam gasification of biomass which is subsequently hydrogenated to form bioelectrofuel [110]. ¹Assumed an electrolyser efficiency of 73% for the steam electrolysis [119]. ²A loss of 5% was applied to the fuel produced to account for losses in the chemical synthesis and fuel storage. ³Assuming a marginal efficiency of 125% and a steam share of 13% relative to the biomass input.

grid, such technologies reduces the fuel consumption from the 2nd generation biofuels, although the fuel consumption is still higher than using 1st generation biofuels. The configuration in (4c) however enables the use of several storage options and several more flexible electricity consumptions. This makes it possible to increase the renewable energy penetration from 50% and improve the fuel efficiency even higher than with the 1st generation biofuels. In (4d) of Fig. 4 an energy-flow-diagram shows how the fuel efficiency of the energy system can be increased significantly by increasing the wind power penetration enabled by the additional storage options. With a 75% penetration of fluctuating renewable energy resources, the fuel consumption can be reduced by almost 80% in these ideal energy-flow-diagrams (from 1a to 4a or 4c).

In the CEESA research project, the results suggest that electricity is the most efficient method of supplying transport fuels in the future [46,110]. Energy dense fuels are required for the parts of the transport sector that cannot be covered with battery electric vehicles or electricity powered public transport. Specifically for applications such as long-distance driving or for heavy-duty transport such as trucks, aviation, and ships, electricity is not technically feasible. These demands should not be covered by hydrogen because of to the cost of hydrogen vehicles and hydrogen storage options as the main carrier either [73,112]. The research indicates that it is likely that some form of gaseous or liquid based fuel will be necessary to supplement electricity in a future 100% renewable energy system. The most attractive option at present seems to be liquid fuel in the form of methanol/DME, as it is a more efficient way to produce fuels compared to methane when taking into account the efficiency of the vehicles [78,79,110,113], however there are many other options [114,115]. In either case, this distinction is not as critical as it may seem: both the methanol/DME and methane pathways share a lot of technologies so the key message in the short term is that these technologies should be developed further before a final fuel is pursued. Chemical synthesis is well developed, while biomass gasification and electrolysers have the potential to improve [79,114–119]. An example of the process of creating bioelectrofuels based on renewable energy in the form of methanol is illustrated in Fig. 5.

Another key point of such infrastructure is not illustrated in Fig. 4. This infrastructure enables the next phase of the energy system, i.e. to create CO_2 -electrofuels, where all types of biomass is entirely phased out. Our research shows that [78,79,110]:

 \dots electrofuels based on gasified biomass and electrolysis can pave the way to entirely phasing out biomass if CO₂ sources are available...

The renewable electrofuel production can also be based on CO_2 from other sources than gasified biomass [120], such as carbon capture and recycling (CCR) from stationary source ambient air [121]. This is very promising for the transport sector, particularly when there is a limited biomass resource [120], but this does not mean that Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) is a good option for power plants. In fact analyses show that it is not suitable for a longer term high penetration of renewable energy [122].

Further research into such systems is required; however the technology to produce such transport fuels is available today in the form of bioenergy and electrolysers. Similarly, methanol is already produced using current alkaline electrolysers and chemical synthesis with CO₂ from geothermal sources in Iceland [123]. Such systems also have the CO₂ storage option, enabling the same flexibility as described above. New more efficient electrolysers can improve the system illustrated in (4d) of Fig. 4, however it is important to understand that while gasification and chemical synthesis has already been going on for a number of years for producing electrofuel.

4. Grids and storages in Smart Energy Systems

As stated earlier, direct electricity storage with the aim of putting electricity back onto the grid should be avoided [35,36,71,72]. There are many other options to create flexibility in the system as well as to integrate fluctuating renewable energy resources fueland cost-effectively. Our research shows that:

...electricity storage, i.e. converting electricity to other energy forms including fuels, or chemical storage with the aim of putting it back on the electricity grid, should be avoided as a strategy for balancing fluctuating electricity production...

In other words, the round trip losses of such electricity storage should be avoided as other solutions focusing on the end use are better options. In areas where there are many possibilities to develop pumped storage, it may make sense from a cost perspective compared to increasing the use of biomass and oil (e.g. on Islands). Grid stability issues may also merit such electricity storage, such as in local distribution grids with bottlenecks. In the long term however, the heating, cooling and transport sectors can be merged to form synergies in storage options occurring due to connections between sectors. By prioritising electricity conversion to heat pumps, electric vehicles and transport fuels through electrolysis, a much higher penetration of fluctuating power is feasible due to their flexibility, and periods of power deficit are reduced. This changes the role of dispatchable electricity supply since they now produce a much smaller part of the annual electricity supply (10-20%) compared to today (typically >75\%) [45]. The operation time is thus reduced to 800-2000 h each year. However, a large capacity of dispatchable plant is still needed for periods when there is a low production from fluctuating renewable electricity resources. The demand for dispatchable power supply may then in turn be provided by gaseous fuels stored in the system. Demands can be met by biogas and gasified biomass using gasbased flexible technologies such as gas engines or combined cycle gas turbines, or even MW size fuels cells if these should be developed [36,45]. In a transition period natural gas may play a key role in the energy systems. It should be noted, that in such systems we may have years, seasons, weeks or hours with very low amount of e.g. wind power and/or PV. Hence, in the future we will need power generation capacity standing by [45]. The capacity installed should not be much different than today, however the amount of operation hours will decrease significantly. By having such a design, security of supply from seconds to years can be ensured. On the other hand there may be years, seasons or weeks with very high amounts of fluctuating renewable energy production. In such periods, a Smart Energy System design is able to absorb and store these resources for later use in various forms.

If the penetration of fluctuating renewable energy from wind power and PV etc. should go towards 100% of the electricity supply in a future Smart Energy System, then some form of energy storage may be necessary. However, moving from ~75% fluctuating renewable energy to 100% may prove very costly. Hydrogen from electrolysis could be produced and mixed with carbon to form storable gaseous or liquid fuels, not with the aim of providing fuels for the transport sector, but with the aim of producing electricity. Previous research however shows from studying the CAES technology compared to other integration options, that even free electricity from wind power would not be able to cover the costs of the investments in CAES [72]. If all of the flexibility from connecting the sectors has been used, then, it may even prove more cost-effective to over-invest in fluctuating renewable energy (such as wind power), and simply waste some of the peak production and critical excess electricity production, instead of trying to balance such small demands with large investments in electricity storage. The exact economic optimization in such a situation depends on future boundary conditions and in particular the availability of biomass compared to technology costs.

The readily available fuels that create the flexibility in the current energy system, can be achieved in Smart Energy Systems. In the research and energy-flow-diagrams presented, a number of key technologies are included. In Smart Energy Systems many new technologies and infrastructures, which create new forms of flexibility primarily in the conversion stage of the energy system, are crucial. In Fig. 6 grids and storages in Smart Energy Systems are illustrated.

By combining the electricity, thermal, and transport sectors, the grids and storages in these sectors can improve the energy system flexibility and compensate for the lack of flexibility from renewable resources such as wind and solar.

In the three grids, the storage and connections between sectors is comprised of:

- Smart electricity grids to connect flexible electricity demands such as heat pumps and electric vehicles to the fluctuating renewable resources such as wind and solar power.
- Smart thermal grids (district heating and cooling) to connect the electricity and heating sectors. This enables thermal storage to be utilised for creating additional flexibility and heat losses in the energy system to be recycled as well as the integration of fluctuating renewable heat sources.
- Smart gas grids to connect the electricity, heating, and transport sectors. This enables gas storage to be utilised for creating additional flexibility. If the gas is refined to a liquid fuel, then liquid fuel storages can also be utilised.

In a stricter sense, these infrastructures can be defined as:

- Smart electricity grids are electricity infrastructures that can intelligently integrate the actions of all users connected to it generators, consumers and those that do both in order to efficiently deliver sustainable, economic and secure electricity supplies.
- Smart thermal grids are networks of pipes connecting the buildings in a neighbourhood, town centre or whole city, so that they can be served from centralised plants as well as from a number of distributed heating or cooling production units, including individual contributions from the connected buildings.
- Smart gas grids are gas infrastructures that can intelligently integrate the actions of all users connected to it suppliers, consumers and those that do both in order to efficiently deliver sustainable, economic and secure gas supplies and storage.

Based on these fundamental infrastructures, a Smart Energy System is a design in which smart Electricity, Thermal and Gas Grids are combined and coordinated to exploit synergies to achieve an optimal solution for each individual sector as well as for the overall energy system. Our research finds that:

...short and long term storage options, such as batteries and large thermal storages, as well as solid, gaseous and liquid storages are key components in 100% renewable energy systems and so are the infrastructures and grids that enable such storage...

5. The Smart Energy System case: The CEESA 100% renewable energy scenarios

Beginning in 2006, an end goal of a 100% renewable energy system has been debated in Denmark in the political forum. To complement this, in 2006 and 2009 scenarios were developed which outlined how this target could be reached by 2050 [3,4]. Later 2050 was set as the official target year by the Danish government. This section presents some of the results of systems analyses of a future Danish energy system based on 100% renewable energy by 2050 in the CEESA project. This project builds on experience from



Fig. 6. Energy-flow-diagrams of the grids (6a) and storages (6b) in Smart Energy Systems.

creating the scenarios in 2006 and 2009 and other research projects, some of which are also described previously here.

5.1. Three different Smart Energy System options in the case study

The assumption in CEESA is that the transition towards 100% renewable energy relies highly on the technologies which will be available within such time horizon and can have different effects on the biomass consumption. To highlight such issues, the CEESA project has identified scenarios based on three different assumptions with regard to the available technologies. This methodology allows for a better optimization and understanding of the energy systems. In order to enable a thorough analysis of the different key elements in 100% renewable energy systems, two very different 100% renewable energy scenarios as well as one recommendable scenario have been created:

- CEESA-2050 Conservative: The conservative scenario is created mostly using known technologies and technologies which are available today. This scenario assumes that the current market can develop and improve existing technologies. In this scenario, the costs of undeveloped renewable energy technologies are high. Very little effort is made to push the technological development for new renewable energy technologies in Denmark or at a global level. However, the scenario does include certain energy efficiency improvements of existing technologies, such as improved electricity efficiencies of power plants, more efficient cars, trucks and planes, and more efficient wind turbines. Moreover, the scenario assumes further technological development of electric cars, hybrid vehicles, and bioelectrofuel production technology (including biomass gasification technology).
- CEESA-2050 Ideal: In the ideal scenario, technologies which are still in the development phase are included on a larger scale. The costs of undeveloped renewable energy technologies are low, due to significant efforts to develop, demonstrate and create markets for new technologies. For example, the ideal scenario assumes that fuel cells are available for power plants, and biomass conversion technologies (such as gasification) are available for most biomass types and on different scales. CO2electrofuelis also implemented and the transport sector moves further towards electrification compared to the conservative scenario.



Primary energy consumption in CEESA

Fig. 7. The primary energy supply in the CEESA 100% renewable energy scenarios for 2050.

• CEESA-2050: This scenario aims to be a "realistic and recommendable" scenario based on a balanced assessment of realistic and achievable technology improvements. A balance between bioelectrofuel and CO2-electrofuel produced DME/methanol is implemented in the transport sector. This is the main CEESA scenario.

It should be highlighted, that in all scenarios, energy savings in electricity, heating and industrial sectors as well as direct electricity consumption are given a high priority. All scenarios rely on a holistic Smart Energy System approach as explained above. This includes the use of thermal heat storages and district heating with CHP plants and large heat pumps as well as transport fuel pathways with the use of gas storage. Also the systems require flexible power plants and CHP plants in the future. All scenarios are hence based on gasification and gas for the power production when the fluctuating resources are not able to meet demands. Furthermore, special attention has been put on the transport sector in the CEESA scenarios. The results of the energy system analyses in the CEESA project regarding the primary energy supply for the three scenarios and the reference energy system is illustrated in Fig. 7. Compared to the reference energy system, all the scenarios are able to reduce the primary energy supply to a level of approximately 500 PJ. There are, however, large differences between the scenarios with regard to use of biomass. In the conservative technology scenario, a 100% renewable energy system is possible with a total biomass consumption of approximately 330 PJ. The ideal technology scenario can decrease this consumption to approximately 200 PJ of biomass while in the CEESA 2050 recommendable scenario, the biomass consumption is approximately 240 PI.

The CEESA project includes a careful examination of the pathways to provide biomass resources. A shift in forest management practices and cereal cultivars ensure a potential of approximately 240 PJ/year by 2050 which represents the use of residual resources only. This means that the CEESA 2050 recommendable scenario is kept within the boundaries of residual resources, and the CEESA 2050 conservative scenario illustrates that an active energy and transport policy is required to stay within these limits. It should be noted that a target of 240 PJ/year by 2050 implies a number of potential conflicts due to many different demands and expectations of ecosystem services, as this requires the conversion of agricultural land from food-crop production to energy-crop production. All crop residues must be harvested, potentially reducing the carbon pool in soils. This potential conflict can be solved by either reducing the demand for biomass for energy, or by further developing agriculture and forestry yields in order to increase the biomass production per unit of land.

In all three scenarios, hour-by-hour energy system analyses have been used to increase the wind turbines to an amount ensuring that the unused electricity consumption is low. These analyses also ensure that the heat supply and gas supply is balanced. In order to achieve such balance a Smart Energy Systems approach have been carried out.

5.2. Steps to achieve 100% renewable energy systems

Merging the different sectors is very important in 100% renewable energy systems to increase fuel efficiency and decrease costs. The first and most important step is connecting the heating and the electricity sectors. In Denmark, this is already implemented to a large extent as approximately 50% of the electricity demand is produced by CHP plants. This requires thermal storages of today's sizes in that concrete context (about 8 h in average production), and boiler and district heating networks to enable the flexible operation of the CHP plants as already implemented in the Danish energy system. In any case such large thermal storage has very low costs. This can reduce the fuel consumption and help integrate fluctuating wind power effectively. As previously mentioned 20– 25% wind power of the electricity demand can normally be integrated without significant changes in the energy system.

With more than 20–25% wind power of the electricity demand, the next step is to install large-scale and individual heat pumps. In the CEESA scenarios, a significant amount of onshore and offshore wind power is installed by 2020 where around 50% of the electricity demand is covered from these sources. This results in some imbalance in the electricity grid, and heat pumps alone are not able to ensure the balance. The transport sector needs to be integrated with the other sectors if the wind power production reaches a share of more than 40–45% of the electricity demand. As a consequence, some electric vehicles are implemented and flexible

demand measures are implemented in households and industry. This is however not sufficient. Thus, small amounts of electrolysers based on known alkaline technology are implemented to facilitate wind power integration and for the production of bioelectrofuel in combination with gasified biomass. This enables the integration of larger amounts of renewable energy into the transport sector.

In 2030, a larger proportion of electric vehicles are included in a solution in which they are able to charge according to a price mechanism. In order to make sure that electric vehicles can fulfil this function, the low voltage grid needs to be enforced in some areas. The electricity production from onshore and offshore wind power in combination with photovoltaic is approximately 60% of the electricity demand in 2030. In order to facilitate this, transport needs to be integrated further. In CEESA, this is achieved by implementing electric cars on a larger scale, i.e., from 2020 onwards.

In CEESA 2050, more new technologies are necessary to make sure that the renewable energy is integrated efficiently into the system and that fossil fuels are being replaced completely. Hence after 2030, electrolysers for hydrogen production for bioelectrofuel are gradually increased to provide larger amounts of liquid fuels to the transport sector. It is assumed that the electrolysers are more efficient. CO₂-electrofuel are used to limit the use of biomass. Instead they use carbon recycling from the electricity sector or other stationary sources.

In the CEESA 2050 energy system, gasified biomass and the gas grid storages are also utilised in combination with the electric vehicles and fuel production in the transport sector as well as the district heating systems. This creates an energy system in which Smart Energy Systems are integrated and the storage options are used in combination to enable the recommendable scenario. CHP plants and power plants are based on gas, allowing dispatchable plants to react faster than current technologies.

The CEESA project has taken a closer look on the balancing of gas supply and demand. The hourly activities of all gas consuming units such as boilers, CHP and power plants as well as productions such as biogas and gasification (syngas) units (including hydrogenation) has been calculated and analysed with regard to the need for import/export, gas storage or flexibility and extra capacities in the gas producing units. Firstly, the annual need for import/export in the case of no gas storage and no extra capacities on the production units was calculated. Then similar analyses were carried out for storage capacities gradually being increased from 0 to 4000 GW h. In all such situations the need for import is equal to the need of export on an annual basis, since the systems are designed to have a net import of zero. However, the need for import/export decreases along with increases in the domestic storage capacity. A storage capacity of about 3000 GW h is able to completely remove the need for import/export. The current Danish natural gas storage facility have a gas content of 17,000 GW h in Stenlille near Copenhagen and 7600 GW h in Western Denmark. The work-content of the storages are smaller, approximately 6500 and 4800 GW h respectively. This means that the total current storage capacity, assuming natural gas quality, is 11,350 GW h. If the gas quality in the entire grid is lowered to biogas standard, the storage would be reduced to around 6800 GW h assuming the capacity is reduced by 40%. This indicates that the current storage capacity is more than twice as large as required in the CEESA-2050 scenario even when assuming no extra capacity at the gasification plant, i.e. no flexibility in the production of syngas.

Until now, it was assumed that all gas production facilities operated at baseload, so here the benefits of flexibility at the gas producing plants is investigated by increasing their capacities. The results indicate that an increase in gas production capacity reduces the need for storage capacities. In the CEESA 2050 scenario



Fig. 8. Energy flows in the CEESA 2050 100% renewable energy scenario. The flows represent the annual aggregated values; however every single hour for all demands and production technologies is accounted for in the energy system analyses.

it was chosen to include about 25% over-capacity for the gas production units, in combination with gas storages above 3000 GW h.

The analysis has also been used to evaluate peak loads on the gas grid. In the CEESA 2050 scenario the peak demand is approximately 10,000 MW. At present, the peak in Danish natural gas consumption in the winter is about 360 GW h and the maximum gas production is about 260 GW h. On average the peak load hour in such a day is 15,000 MW and the maximum hourly production is about 11,000 MW from a daily average point of view. This means that even when assuming the capacity is used for gas with biogas energy density, the current grid could also be used in the peak situation.

One important lesson from the hourly analysis of the entire system, including both electricity and gas balances, is that relatively cheap gas storage capacities (which in the Danish case are already there) can be used to balance the integration of wind power into the electricity grid. Consequently, in the CEESA 2050 scenario it is possible to decrease excess electricity production to nearly zero while at the same time achieving high fuel efficiencies by using heat and gas storages and connecting the transport sector. No electricity storage is included as such investments would not be economical, due to the very small utilization hours and the inefficiency in the system from the round trip losses.

The energy-flow-diagrams presented above represent the transition from a simple supply demand system to the integrated Smart Energy System from an ideal point of view. For the CEESA 2050 scenario, losses and hour-by-hour calculations have been accounted for when designing the scenarios. The resulting Smart Energy System is illustrated in the Sankey diagram in Fig. 8.

6. Conclusions

Suboptimal solutions with sectorial or single technology focuses can hamper the way for fuel efficient and feasible future 100% renewable energy systems. By analysing all sectors of the energy system, innovative solutions can be identified in which all sectors are included and in which many technologies each play an important role. By applying a Smart Energy Systems approach to the identification of suitable 100% renewable energy systems design the CEESA scenarios show how system integration is a fuel efficient and cost effective option. In particular, the study combines the analysis of gasified biomass and gas grid storages in conjunction with electric vehicles and electrofuel production in the transport sector as well as the district heating systems. This creates an energy system in which Smart Energy Systems are integrated and the storage options are used in combination to enable the final scenario. The analyses ensure an hour-by-hour balance in the gas supply and demand. It should be noted that synergies and feasible solutions are not achieved simply by combining these infrastructures and storage options automatically. The design and configuration has to be carefully investigated. Also it should be noted that energy savings are extremely important as the primary energy demands otherwise would increase significantly and increase the need for fluctuating resources and biomass.

Our hypothesis is, that this approach is generally applicable and appropriate in designing 100% renewable energy systems that are technically feasible, economically have similar cost to fossil fuel alternatives and can have sustainable consumption of bioenergy.

Acknowledgements

The results of our research presented are based on a long range of research projects and collaboration in past years. We wish to express our gratitude to those who have been part of this. The paper is partly a result of the Research project Coherent Energy and Environmental System Analysis (CEESA) financed by the Danish Council for Strategic Research. The paper is based on research originally presented at the 8th Conference on Sustainable Development of Energy, Water and Environment Systems in Dubrovnik, Croatia, 2013.

References

- Lund H. Choice awareness: the development of technological and institutional choice in the public debate of Danish energy planning. J Environ Planning Policy Manage 2000;2:249–59.
- [2] Lund H, Hvelplund F. The economic crisis and sustainable development: the design of job creation strategies by use of concrete institutional economics. Energy 2012;43:192–200.
- [3] Mathiesen BV, Lund H, Karlsson K. 100% Renewable energy systems, climate mitigation and economic growth. Appl Energy 2011.
- [4] Lund H, Mathiesen BV. Energy system analysis of 100% renewable energy systems – the case of Denmark in years 2030 and 2050. Energy 2009/5; 34:524–31.
- [5] Ćosić B, Krajačić G, Duić N. A 100% renewable energy system in the year 2050: the case of Macedonia. Energy 2012;48:80–7.
- [6] Peter S, Doleschek A, Lehmann H, Mirales J, Puig J, Corominas J, et al. A pathway to a 100% renewable energy system for Catalonia. Institute of Sustainable Solutions and Innovations; 2007. http://www.isusi. de/downloads/Solar_Catalonia_2007_en.pdf>.
- [7] Krajačić G, Duić N, Zmijarević Z, Mathiesen BV, Vučinić AA, da Graça Carvalho M. Planning for a 100% independent energy system based on smart energy storage for integration of renewables and CO₂ emissions reduction. Appl Therm Eng 2011;31:2073–83.
- [8] Connolly D, Mathiesen BV. A technical and economic analysis of one potential pathway to a 100% renewable energy system. Int J Sustain Energy Plan Manage 2014:1.
- [9] Connolly D, Lund H, Mathiesen BV, Leahy M. The first step towards a 100% renewable energy-system for Ireland. Appl Energy 2011;88:502-7.
 [10] Lund H, Andersen AN, Østergaard PA, Mathiesen BV, Connolly D. From
- [10] Lund H, Andersen AN, Østergaard PA, Mathiesen BV, Connolly D. From electricity smart grids to smart energy systems a market operation based approach and understanding. Energy 2012;42:96–102.
 [11] Becker S, Frew BA, Andresen GB, Zeyer T, Schramm S, Greiner M et al. Features
- [11] Becker S, Frew BA, Andresen GB, Zeyer T, Schramm S, Greiner M et al. Features of a fully renewable US electricity system: optimized mixes of wind and solar PV and transmission grid extensions. Energy.
- [12] Ryu H, Dorjragchaa S, Kim Y, Kim K. Electricity-generation mix considering energy security and carbon emission mitigation: case of Korea and Mongolia. Energy 2014;64:1071–9.
- [13] Meibom P, Barth R, Hasche B, Brand H, Weber C, O'Malley M. Stochastic optimization model to study the operational impacts of high wind penetrations in Ireland. IEEE Trans Power Syst 2011;26:1367–79.
- [14] Mason IG, Page SC, Williamson AG. A 100% renewable electricity generation system for New Zealand utilising hydro, wind, geothermal and biomass resources. Energy Policy 2010;38:3973–84.
- [15] Krajacic G, Duic N, Carvalho MdG. How to achieve a 100% RES electricity supply for Portugal? Appl Energy 2011;88:508–17.
- [16] Elliston B, Diesendorf M, MacGill I. Simulations of scenarios with 100% renewable electricity in the Australian National Electricity Market. Energy Policy 2012;45:606–13.
- [17] Jacobson MZ, Delucchi MA. Providing all global energy with wind, water, and solar power, Part I: Technologies, energy resources, quantities and areas of infrastructure, and materials. Energy Policy 2011;39:1154–69.
- [18] Orecchini F, Santiangeli A. Beyond smart grids the need of intelligent energy networks for a higher global efficiency through energy vectors integration. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2011;36:8126–33.
- [19] Cédric C. Smart grids: another step towards competition, energy security and climate change objectives. Energy Policy 2011;39:5399–408.
- [20] Matthias W. The smart grid a saucerful of secrets? Appl Energy 2011;88:2509–18.
- [21] Bajpai P, Dash V. Hybrid renewable energy systems for power generation in stand-alone applications: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2012;16:2926–39.
- [22] Chauhan A, Saini RP. A review on integrated renewable energy system based power generation for stand-alone applications: configurations, storage options, sizing methodologies and control. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2014;38:99–120.
- [23] Muench S, Thuss S, Guenther E. What hampers energy system transformations? The case of smart grids. Energy Policy 2014;73:80–92.

- [24] Mwasilu F, Justo JJ, Kim E, Do TD, Jung J. Electric vehicles and smart grid interaction: a review on vehicle to grid and renewable energy sources integration. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2014;34:501–16.
- [25] Lund H, Østergaard PA. Electric grid and heat planning scenarios with centralised and distributed sources of conventional, CHP and wind generation. Energy 2000;25:299–312.
- [26] Debnath UK, Ahmad I, Habibi D, Saber AY. Energy storage model with gridable vehicles for economic load dispatch in the smart grid. Int J Electr Power Energy Syst 2015;64:1017–24.
- [27] Fattori F, Anglani N, Muliere G. Combining photovoltaic energy with electric vehicles, smart charging and vehicle-to-grid. Sol Energy 2014;110:438–51.
- [28] Jentsch M, Trost T, Sterner M. Optimal use of power-to-gas energy storage systems in an 85% renewable energy scenario. Energy Proc 2014.
- [29] Østergaard PA. Transmission-grid requirements with scattered and fluctuating renewable electricity-sources. Appl Energy 2009;76:247–55.
- [30] Østergaard PA. Regulation strategies of cogeneration of heat and power (CHP) plants and electricity transit in Denmark. Energy 2010;35:2194-202.
- [31] Østergaard PA. Modelling grid losses and the geographic distribution of electricity generation. Renew Energy 2005;30:977–87.
- [32] Kylili A, Fokaides PA. European smart cities: the role of zero energy buildings. Sustain Cities Soc 2015.
- [33] Lund PD, Mikkola J, Ypyä J. Smart energy system design for large clean power schemes in urban areas. J Clean Prod 2014.
- [34] Lund H, Marszal A, Heiselberg P. Zero energy buildings and mismatch compensation factors. Energy Build 2011;43:1646–54.
- [35] Mathiesen BV, Lund H. Comparative analyses of seven technologies to facilitate the integration of fluctuating renewable energy sources. IET Renew Power Gen 2009/6;3:190–204.
- [36] Brian Vad Mathiesen. Fuel cells and electrolysers in future energy systems. Ph.D., Department of Development and Planning, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2008/12. ISSN/ISBN: 1397 3169. http://people.plan.aau.dk/~bvm/>.
- [37] Lund H, Möller B, Mathiesen BV, Dyrelund A. The role of district heating in future renewable energy systems. Energy 2010/3;35:1381–90.
- [38] Nyborg S, Røpke I. Constructing users in the smart grid-insights from the Danish eFlex project. Energy Effi 2013;6:655–70.
- [**39**] Pensini A, Rasmussen CN, Kempton W. Economic analysis of using excess renewable electricity to displace heating fuels. Appl Energy 2014;131:530–43.
- [40] Hvelplund F, Möller B, Sperling K. Local ownership, smart energy systems and better wind power economy. Energy Strategy Rev 2013;1:164–70.
- [41] Mathiesen BV, Lund H, Norgaard P. Integrated transport and renewable energy systems. Utilities Policy 2008/6;16:107–16.
- [42] Eickhout B, Born G, Notenboom J, Oorschot Mv, Ros J, Vuuren Dv et al. Local and global consequences of the EU renewable directive for biofuels: testing the sustainability criteria. Local and global consequences of the EU renewable directive for biofuels: testing the sustainability criteria; 2008.
- [43] Wenzel H. Biofuels: the good, the bad, the ugly-and the unwise policy. Clean Technol Environ Policy 2009;11:143-5.
- [44] Wenzel H. Breaking the biomass bottleneck of the fossil free society. CONCITO; 2010. http://www.concito.dk/>.
- [45] Mathiesen BV, Lund H, Hvelplund FK, Connolly D, Bentsen NS, Tonini D et al. CEESA 100% renewable energy Scenarios towards 2050; Coherent energy and environmental system analysis; technical background report Part 1. Aalborg University; 2015.
- [46] Mathiesen BV, Connolly D, Lund H, Nielsen MP, Schaltz E, Wenzel H, et al. CEESA 100% renewable energy transport scenarios towards 2050. Coherent energy and environmental system analysis; technical background report Part 2. Aalborg University; 2015.
- [47] Lund H, Hvelplund F, Mathiesen BV, Østergaard PA, Christensen P, Connolly D, et al. Coherent energy and environmental system analysis (CEESA). Denmark: Department of Development and Planning, Aalborg University; 2011. ISSN/ ISBN: ISBN 978-87-91404-15-3.
- [48] Østergaard PA, Pillai JR, Bak-Jensen B, Lind M, Heussen K. Electric power systems for a transition to 100% renewable energy systems in Denmark before 2050. Coherent energy and environmental system analysis. Technical background report Part 3. Aalborg University; 2011.
- [49] Astrup Thomas, Tonini Davide, Hamelin Lorie, Wenzel Henrik. Environmental assessment of renewable energy scenarios towards 2050. Coherent energy and environmental system analysis (CEESA). Technical background report Part 5; 2011.
- [50] Hvelplund Frede, Meyer NI, Morthorst PE, Munksgaard J, Karnøe P, Hasberg Kirsten Sophie. Policies for a transition to 100% renewable energy systems in Denmark before 2050. Coherent energy and environmental system analysis (CEESA). Background report Part 4. Aalborg University; 2011.
- [51] Lund Henrik. EnergyPLAN advanced energy systems analysis computer model. Documentation version 11.04.14. http://www.energyplan.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/EnergyPLAN-Documentation-V11.4-2014.pdf.
- [52] Connolly D, Leahy M. A review of energy storage technologies: for the integration of fluctuating renewable energy. Version 4.0. University of Limerick; 2010. https://www.dconnolly.net/publications.html.
- [53] Möller B. A heat atlas for demand and supply management in Denmark. Manage Environ Qual 2008;19:467–79.
- [54] Nielsen S, Sorknæs P, Østergaard PA. Electricity market auction settings in a future Danish electricity system with a high penetration of renewable energy sources – a comparison of marginal pricing and pay-as-bid. Energy 2011;36:4434–44.

- [55] Sorknæs P, Andersen AN, Tang J, Strøm S. Market integration of wind power in electricity system balancing. Energy Strat Rev 2013;1:174.
- [56] Lund H, Hvelplund F, Østergaard PÅ, Möller B, Mathiesen BV, Karnøe P, et al. System and market integration of wind power in Denmark. Energy Strat Rev 2013;1:143–56.
- [57] Hvelplund F. Renewable energy and the need for local energy markets. Energy 2006;31:2293–302.
- [58] Sperling K, Hvelplund F, Mathiesen BV. Centralisation and decentralisation in strategic municipal energy planning in Denmark. Energy Policy 2011;39:1338–51.
- [59] Haas R, Lettner G, Auer H, Duic N. The looming revolution: how photovoltaics will change electricity markets in Europe fundamentally. Energy 2013;57:38–43.
- [60] Karnøe P. Large scale wind power penetration in Denmark breaking up and remixing politics, technologies and markets. Revue de l'Energie 2013;2013(611):12–22.
- [61] Meyer NI, Mathiesen BV, Hvelplund F. Barriers and potential solutions for energy renovation of buildings in Denmark. Int J Sustain Energy Plan Manage 2014;1:59–66.
- [62] Schreurs MA. From the bottom up: local and subnational climate change politics. J Environ Dev 2008;17:343–55.
- [63] Østergaard PA, Mathiesen BV, Lund H. Energy systems impacts of desalination in Jordan. Int J Sustain Energy Plan Manage 2014;1:29–40.
- [64] Connolly D, Lund H, Mathiesen BV, Pican E, Leahy M. The technical and economic implications of integrating fluctuating renewable energy using energy storage. Renew Energy 2012;43:47–60.
- [65] Liu W, Lund H, Mathiesen BV. Large-scale integration of wind power into the existing Chinese energy system. Energy 2011;36:4753–60.
- [66] Liu W, Lund H, Mathiesen BV, Zhang X. Potential of renewable energy systems in China. Appl Energy 2011;88:518–25.
- [67] Novosel T, Ćosić B, Krajačić G, Duić N, Pukšec T, Mohsen MS, et al. The influence of reverse osmosis desalination in a combination with pump storage on the penetration of wind and PV energy: a case study for Jordan. Energy.
- [68] Stadler I. Power grid balancing of energy systems with high renewable energy penetration by demand response. Utilities Policy 2008;16:90–8.
- [69] Salgi G, Donslund B, Østergaard PA. Energy system analysis of utilizing hydrogen as an energy carrier for wind power in the transportation sector in Western Denmark. Utilities Policy 2008;16:99–106.
- [70] Hedegaard K, Meibom P. Wind power impacts and electricity storage a time scale perspective. Renew Energy 2012;37:318–24.
- [71] Salgi G, Lund H. System behaviour of compressed-air energy-storage in Denmark with a high penetration of renewable energy sources. Appl Energy 2008/4;85:182–9.
- [72] Lund H, Salgi G. The role of compressed air energy storage (CAES) in future sustainable energy systems. Energy Convers Manage 2009;50: 1172–9.
- [73] Energinet.dk (Danish TSO). Per Koustrup, Brian Vad Mathiesen. Analysis of power balancing with fuel cells & hydrogen production plants in Denmark; 2009/5.
- [74] Lund H, Kempton W. Integration of renewable energy into the transport and electricity sectors through V2G. Energy Policy 2008;36:3578–87.
- [75] Pillai JR, Bak-Jensen B. Integration of vehicle-to-grid in the western Danish power system 2011;2:12–9.
- [76] Blaabjerg F, Teodorescu R, Liserre M, Timbus AV. Overview of control and grid synchronization for distributed power generation systems. IEEE Trans Industr Electron 2006;53:1398–409.
- [77] Østergaard PA. Comparing electricity, heat and biogas storages' impacts on renewable energy integration. Energy 2012;37:255–62.
- [78] Ridjan I, Mathiesen BV, Connolly D, Duić N. The feasibility of synthetic fuels in renewable energy systems. Energy 2013;57:76–84.
- [79] Ridjan I, Mathiesen BV, Connolly D. Synthetic fuel production costs by means of solid oxide electrolysis cells. Energy 2014.
- [80] Nielsen S, Möller B. Excess heat production of future net zero energy buildings within district heating areas in Denmark. Energy 2012.
- [81] Lund Henrik, Zinck Jakob, Thellufsen, Aggerholm Søren, et al. Heat saving strategies in sustainable Smart Energy Systems; 2014. http://wbn.aau.dk/da/ publications/heat-saving-strategies-in-sustainable-smart-energy-systems (17df43a7-029a-494d-9254-94da755ad265).html>.
- [82] Mathiesen BV, Lund H, Connolly D. Limiting biomass consumption for heating in 100% renewable energy systems. Energy 2012;48:160–8.
- [83] Hedegaard K, Mathiesen BV, Lund H, Heiselberg P. Wind power integration using individual heat pumps – analysis of different heat storage options. Energy 2012;47:284–93.
- [84] Connolly D, Mathiesen BV, Østergaard PA, Möller B, Nielsen S, Lund H, et al. Heat roadmap Europe: first pre-study for EU27. Aalborg University, Halmstad University, and Euroheat & Power; 2012. http://vbn.aau.dk/.
- [85] Connolly D, Mathiesen BV, Østergaard PA, Möller B, Nielsen S, Lund H, et al. Heat roadmap Europe: second pre-study. Aalborg University, Halmstad University, Ecofys Germany GmbH, PlanEnergi, and Euroheat & Power; 2013. http://wbn.aau.dk/.
- [86] Persson U, Werner S. Heat distribution and the future competitiveness of district heating. Appl Energy 2011;88:568–76.
- [87] Connolly D, Lund H, Mathiesen BV, Werner S, Möller B, Persson U, et al. Heat roadmap Europe: combining district heating with heat savings to decarbonise the EU energy system. Energy Policy 2014;65:475–89.

- [88] Nielsen S, Möller B. GIS based analysis of future district heating potential in Denmark. Energy 2013;57:458–68.
- [89] Østergaard PA, Lund H. A renewable energy system in Frederikshavn using low-temperature geothermal energy for district heating. Appl Energy 2011/ 2;88:479–87.
- [90] Østergaard PA, Mathiesen BV, Möller B, Lund H. A renewable energy scenario for Aalborg Municipality based on low-temperature geothermal heat, wind power and biomass. Energy 2010;35:4892–901.
- [91] Lund H. Large-scale integration of wind power into different energy systems. Energy 2005/10;30:2402–12.
- [92] Dyrelund Anders, Lund Henrik, Möller Bernd, et al. Heat plan Denmark (Varmeplan Danmark). http://vbn.aau.dk/da/publications/varmeplandanmark(8d4226d0-e722-11dd-b0a4-000ea68e967b).html>.
- [93] Østergaard PA, Lund H. Climate change mitigation from a bottom-up community approach. In: Clark II Woodrow W, editor. Sustainable communities design handbook. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann; 2010. p. 247–65.
- [94] Münster M, Morthorst PE, Larsen HV, Bregnbæk L, Werling J, Lindboe HH, et al. The role of district heating in the future Danish energy system. Energy 2012;48:47–55.
- [95] Joelsson A, Gustavsson L. District heating and energy efficiency in detached houses of differing size and construction. Appl Energy 2009;86:126.
- [96] Möller B, Nielsen S. High resolution heat atlases for demand and supply mapping. Int J Sustain Energy Plan Manage 2014;1:41–58.
- [97] Persson U, Möller B, Werner S. Heat roadmap Europe: identifying strategic heat synergy regions. Energy Policy 2014.
- [98] Lund H, Werner S, Wiltshire R, Svendsen S, Thorsen JE, Hvelplund F, et al. 4th Generation District Heating (4GDH): integrating smart thermal grids into future sustainable energy systems. Energy 2014;68:1–11.
- [99] Tol Hİ, Svendsen S. A comparative study on substation types and network layouts in connection with low-energy district heating systems. Energy Convers Manage 2012;64:551-61.
- [100] Gram-Hanssen K, Christensen TH, Petersen PE. Air-to-air heat pumps in reallife use: are potential savings achieved or are they transformed into increased comfort? Energy Build 2012;53:64–73.
- [101] Abel E. Low-energy buildings. Energy Build 1994;21:169–74.
- [102] Tommerup H, Svendsen S. Energy savings in Danish residential building stock. Energy Build 2006/6;38:618–26.
- [103] Tommerup H, Rose J, Svendsen S. Energy-efficient houses built according to the energy performance requirements introduced in Denmark in 2006. Energy Build 2007;39:1123–30.
- [104] Silva AS, Luiz F, Mansur AC, Vieira AS, Schaefer A, Ghisi E. Knowing electricity end-uses to successfully promote energy efficiency in buildings: a case study in low-income houses in Southern Brazil. Int J Sustain Energy Plan Manage 2014;2:7–18.
- [105] Heiselberg P, Brohus H, Hesselholt A, Rasmussen H, Seinre E, Thomas S. Application of sensitivity analysis in design of sustainable buildings. Renew Energy 2009;34:2030–6.
- [106] Deng S, Wang RZ, Dai YJ. How to evaluate performance of net zero energy building – a literature research. Energy 2014;71:1–16.
- [107] Milan C, Bojesen C, Nielsen MP. A cost optimization model for 100% renewable residential energy supply systems. Energy 2012;48: 118–27.
- [108] Pillai JR, Heussen K, Østergaard PA. Comparative analysis of hourly and dynamic power balancing models for validating future energy scenarios. Energy 2011;36:3233-43.
- [109] Lund H, Munster E. Integrated transportation and energy sector CO₂ emission control strategies. Transport Policy 2006/9;13:426–33.
- [110] Connolly D, Mathiesen BV, Ridjan I. A comparison between renewable transport fuels that can supplement or replace biofuels in a 100% renewable energy system. Energy 2014;73:110–25.
- [111] Juul N, Meibom P. Optimal configuration of an integrated power and transport system. Energy 2011;36:3523–30.
- [112] Semelsberger TA, Borup RL, Greene HL. Dimethyl ether (DME) as an alternative fuel. J Power Sources 2006;156:497–511.
- [113] Kappel J, Mathiesen BV. Screening of tank-to-wheel efficiencies for CNG, DME and methanol-ethanol fuel blend in road transport. 978-87-91404-49-8; 2013.
- [114] Sun X, Chen M, Jensen SH, Ebbesen SD, Graves C, Mogensen M. Thermodynamic analysis of synthetic hydrocarbon fuel production in pressurized solid oxide electrolysis cells. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2012;37. 17101-10.
- [115] Graves C, Ebbesen SD, Mogensen M, Lackner KS. Sustainable hydrocarbon fuels by recycling CO₂ and H₂O with renewable or nuclear energy. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2011;15:1–23.
- [116] Hauch A, Ebbesen SD, Jensen SH, Mogensen M. Highly efficient high temperature electrolysis. J Mater Chem 2008;18:2331–40.
- [117] Jensen SH, Sun X, Ebbesen SD, Knibbe R, Mogensen M. Hydrogen and synthetic fuel production using pressurized solid oxide electrolysis cells. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:9544–9.
- [118] Ridjan Iva, Vad Mathiesen Brian, Connolly David. A review of biomass gasification in Denmark and Sweden; 2013. http://vbn.aau.dk>.
- [119] Mathiesen B, Ridjan I, Connolly D, Nielsen M, Hendriksen P, Mogensen M, et al. Technology data for high temperature solid oxide electrolyser cells, alkali and PEM electrolysers. Department of Development and Planning, Aalborg University, May, 2013.

- **[120]** Lackner KS, Brennan S, Matter JM, Park AH, Wright A, van der Zwaan B. The urgency of the development of CO_2 capture from ambient air. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109:13156–62.
- [121] Lackner KS. Capture of carbon dioxide from ambient air. Eur Phys J Special Top 2009;176:93–106.
- [122] Lund H, Mathiesen BV. The role of carbon capture and storage in a future sustainable energy system. Energy 2012;44:469–76.
 [123] Tran K, Sigurbjornsson O. That's why we should all go to Iceland. Chem Eng 2011:28–31.